1987

Janet Sue Johnson v. Val Budge Johnson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear the above entitled appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to the Rule 3(a) of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals. This is an appeal from a final order or judgement of the Second Judicial District Court. Legislation creating the Utah Court of Appeals granted this Court the specific authority to review decisions in domestic relations cases. The original action herein was an action for divorce.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal of a judgement rendered by the Honorable John F. Wahlquist awarding child support, alimony, and dividing the estate of the parties. The judgement was entered on May 22, 1987, and the Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 19, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented on appeal are as follows:

1. Whether the Appellant should be awarded a monetary interest in Respondent's medical license.

2. Whether the Trial Court erred in the method it adopted in assessing the value of Respondent's interest in the professional corporation, Associates of Pathology.

3. Whether the trial court erred by basing its award of alimony upon a projected future income which was substantially below the average income of Dr. Johnson in the preceding five years.

4. Whether the Appellant should be awarded more than \$1,000.00 per month alimony for 120 months based upon Respondent's average earnings over the last five years of between \$150,000.00 and \$190,000.00, Appellant having no outside earnings of her own.

5. Whether the trial court erred in limiting child support to \$648.00 per child per month based upon its interpretation of the Uniform Child Support Schedule to mean that a supporting parent who earns more than \$120,000.00 per year should not be assessed more than a parent making only \$120,000.00 because the Schedule does not extend beyond a parental income of \$120,000.00.

6. Whether the Appellant should be awarded one half of Respondent's income during the time the two were separated, but prior to their divorce.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married on August 19, 1966, and they were separated on or about February 1, 1986. An action for Separate Maintenance was filed by the Appellant and an action for Divorce was filed by way of Counterclaim by Respondent. The matter was heard in the Second Judicial District Court in and for Weber County, State of Utah, the Honorable John F. Wahlquist presiding, on the 20th and 23rd days of March, 1987.

The parties married after the Respondent had completed one year of medical school. Respondent's parents paid costs incurred by Respondent for tuition and books only during his schooling. While the Respondent attended Medical School in St. Louis, Missouri, Appellant was employed by the St. Louis Globe Democrat, and except for the tuition and the books, she supported Respondent during his remaining three years of medical school. Respondent's contribution to his medical school expenses were that he obtained a small scholarship during his final year of medical school in the sum of \$400.00, and he had a part-time job during his third and fourth years of medical school. The average weekly pay from his part time employment was \$150.00 per month. He had the part time job for a period of 21 months. Other than the contributions mentioned above, the sole supporter of the family during the final three years of Respondent's medical school training, was the Appellant, Mrs. Johnson.

Following graduation from medical school, the respondent began a one-year internship. Appellant continued to work during

this one-year period, contributing her earnings to the support of the family. Following completion of a one year internship, Respondent began training as a resident in pathology. At that time, the parties mutually decided to begin their family. The parties further agreed that Appellant would not continue to work, but would serve the family as a full-time homemaker and mother. Appellant terminated her work, and over the next few years three children were born to the marriage.

Appellant earnings from The St. Louis Globe Democrat gross were about \$13,960.00, which approximately equalled the estimated costs of supporting the family during that time which was roughly \$14,725.00. The figure of \$14,725.00 was calculated by multiplying \$475.00, the estimated monthly cost of living during the time Dr. Johnson was in medical school, by the 31 months he spent in school.

Upon graduation from medical school, the Dr. Johnson served his internship with the Public Health Service in Seattle, Washington. He was an intern from July 1969, through July, 1970. Thereafter, he became served his residency with the Public Health Service in Seattle, Washington, from June, 1970 to June, 1974. In that month, Respondent accepted a position with his present employer, Associates of Pathology, Inc., of Ogden, Utah, where he continues to be employed at the present time. By mutual agreement and consent of the parties, Mrs. Johnson has not been employed outside the home since 1970, and although she received a Bachelor of Arts Degree from Weber Sate College, she has not

pursued any career as a result of that degree, due to her commitment as a homemaker.

At the time of the trial in March of 1987, the parties had assets with a fair market value of approximately \$850,000.00 to \$900,000.00. (See, Exhibit entitled "Proposal for Settlement" dated 1/20/87 entered as evidence during opening arguments by Mr. Farr, Tr. p. 10, Exhibit No. unknown). These assets consisted of real and personal property including stocks, bonds, cash, pension and retirement funds. The parties have agreed that the aforementioned assets would be divided equally, with each party receiving approximately 50 percent of their value. (Tr. p. 7, ln. 4-10). The tangible assets have been divided by agreement of the parties.

At trial, Appellant put on evidence to establish the value of Respondent's interest in the professional corporation, Associates of Pathology. To estimate the value of Respondent's interest in the aforementioned corporation, Appellant retained the services of the accounting firm of KBMG-Peat Marwick, the fourth largest accounting firm in the world, (Tr. p. 58, lines 15-22), with offices in Salt Lake City, Utah, as expert witnesses with respect to the value of respondent's medical practice. Merrill Norman (Tr. pp. 57-206) and John Brough (Tr. pp. 111-113) testified as expert witnesses from that firm at the District Court Trial. The accountants did extensive research into the valuation of the medical practice, their accounting services totalling more than \$8,000.00. However, in spite of the effort

and expertise that went into the valuation of the medical practice by Appellant's experts, the trial court held that the accountant's valuation of the medical practice was not credible. (Conclusions of Law, No. 4).

Although the trial court awarded the Appellant a 50 percent interest in the Respondent's medical practice, (Conclusions of Law No. 9) the manner in which the trial court valued the medical practice is disputed. The trial court held "That the value of defendant's interest in the Associates of Pathology, a professional corporation, is \$14,521.00." (Findings of Fact, No. 18). The trial court valued the Dr. Johnson's interest in the professional corporation by adopting the method of valuation proposed by the Respondent, and used by the professional corporation in their buy-out agreement. (See Plaintiff's Exhibit 9-D referred to in the transcript of the record at pp. 119-20). Essentially, the buy-out agreement states that in the event that a member of Associates of Pathology decides to leave the professional corporation, or dies, the equipment, the cash on hand, and the accounts receivable are added together and the sum of those assets constitutes the worth of the leaving member's portion of the association.

Appellant argued at trial that the Respondent's portion of Associates of Pathology, should be valued as an ongoing concern, rather than according to the buy-out agreement referred to above, which contemplates the termination of a member's interest in the corporation.

According to the method of valuation used by Appellant's experts, the Respondent's portion of the association, valued as a going concern, was approximately \$154,997.00, (see Exhibit 8-P).

The trial court adopted the method of valuation proposed by Respondent referred to above, and determined the value of Respondent's medical practice to be the total of Respondent's equipment, cash on hand, and accounts receivable, which was valued at \$14,521.00. (Findings of Fact, No. 18). According to the trial court's determination, the Appellant was awarded fifty percent of the \$14,521.00, or \$7,260.50. (Conclusions of Law No. 9).

The trial court awarded the Appellant \$1,000.00 per month in alimony for a period of ten years, or until the Appellant remarries, cohabits with another, or dies. (Conclusions of Law No. 8).

Child support was awarded to the Appellant in the amount of \$648.00 per child per month. (Conclusions of Law No. 3). At the trial, the parties agreed that the child support be based upon the Uniform Child Support Schedule as used by the courts in the Second Judicial District. (Tr. p. 12, ln. 8) However, the parties disagreed as to whether the Uniform Schedule was to have a ceiling, or whether it was meant to be extended at the same percentage rates until the child support becomes commensurate with the supporting parent's income. (Tr. at 12-13). The Appellant's position is that the Utah Uniform Child Support Schedule arbitrarily ends at an annual income level of

\$120,000.00 and was meant to continue to extend the child support amounts at the same rates until a figure is arrived at that coincides with the income of the parent paying the child support.

Respondent's position at trial was that The Uniform Child Support Schedule was intended to have a ceiling, beyond which point, an increase in the supporting parent's income will not increase the amount awarded as child support. Dr. Johnson's income for 1986 was \$190,580.00, (see Defendant's answers to Plaintiff's interrogatories, and Tr. pp. 46-49) which amount was not on the Uniform Child Support Schedule because the schedule does not extend beyond a \$120,000.00 annual parental income. The Trial Court held that "the maximum income figure used for child support pursuant to the Uniform Child Support Schedule of \$10,000.00 per month recognizes that even though a father's income may be higher, the cost of raising and supporting said children locally will not increase although the father's income may exceed the \$10,000.00 per month figure." (Findings of Fact No. 27, see also, Memorandum Decision No. 5).

The trial court awarded \$648.00 per month per child for each of the parties three children because the Uniform Child Support Schedule stops at an annual income level of \$120,000.00. According to Appellant, if the Schedule would have been extended according to the rates used in the Schedule, the amount payable as child support would have been \$1,047.00 per month per child for each of the parties three children. (Tr. p. 12).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I. The Appellant believes that a medical license should be considered as property subject to division between spouses, in spite of the Court of Appeals decision in Peterson v. Peterson, 58 Utah Adv. Rep. 28, (Ct. App. 1987), and wishes to raise the issue in the event that the matter goes to the Supreme Court of Utah.

POINT II. Appellant contends that the method of valuation by which the trial court determined the worth of the Respondent's medical practice was not a fair representation of the true value of the practice because the trial court used the dissolution agreement between the doctor members of Associates of Pathology to determine the value of an on-going practice. Mrs. Johnson was not a party to the buy-out agreement between the doctors.

POINT III. Appellant contends that the trial court erred by basing its award of alimony upon a projected future income of Dr. Johnson which was substantially below the doctor's income level of the previous five years.

POINT IV. Appellant contends that the trial court's award of \$1,000.00 per month alimony for 120 months is inadequate, and, considering the factors used by the Utah courts, and recent awards by other Utah courts in similar situations, it is far from being a reasonable award in view of the fact that the wife had

not worked for over 17 years, that she had no outside income, her standard of living, her needs, and the fact that the husband's 1986 income was more than \$190,000.00.

POINT V. Appellant would argue that the Uniform Child Support Schedule, relied upon by the trial court in determining the amount of child support, was not intended to put a ceiling, upon all child support payable, but should continue at the same percentage rates until the figures are in line with the income of the father.

POINT VI. Appellant contends that she is entitled to an equitable interest in Respondent's post-separation, pre-divorce income. Appellant should not be penalized for the time in which the parties were separated by being refused one half of the Respondent's income during that time.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO AN EQUITABLE INTEREST IN RESPONDENT'S MEDICAL LICENSE

Following trial of this case at the District Court, the Utah Court of Appeals, in the case of Peterson v. Peterson, 58 Utah Adv. Rep. 28, (Ct. App. 1987), held that a medical degree or license is not property subject to division between spouses. Because the same issue was relied upon by the Appellant in this

case, and because the issue has not as yet been heard by the Supreme Court of Utah, the Appellant herein raises the issue in the event that it reaches the Supreme Court of Utah.

Appellant's experts valued Respondent's medical degree and or license at \$1,156,426.00. Briefly, the value was calculated by subtracting the average income of a college graduate at age 44 in 1987, from the annual income of the average pathologist at age 44, in 1987. The average pathologist works until the age of 62. According to the national average for pathologists, Dr. Johnson has a worklife expectancy of 18 years. The difference in the income of the average pathologist, less the income of the average college graduate, multiplied by 18 and reduced to a present day value equals \$1,156,426.00. (See Exhibit 8-P entitled "Summary of Valuation Methods").

According to Appellant's experts, Dr. Johnson makes \$6,437.00 per month more than the average college graduate, and \$2,785.00 per month more than the average pathologist in the United States. Appellant's experts claim that Dr. Johnson's association with Associates of Pathology is the reason that he makes more than the average pathologist of his age. Appellant contends that the medical degree or license has value and that it should be considered as a property interest to be divided between the spouses.

POINT II

THE VALUATION METHOD EMPLOYED BY THE TRIAL COURT
IN DETERMINING THE VALUE OF THE RESPONDENT'S
MEDICAL PRACTICE DID NOT LEAD TO A FAIR ASSESSMENT
OF THE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S ON-GOING MEDICAL PRACTICE.

At trial, the judge awarded Mrs. Johnson one half of the value of Respondent's medical practice, with this portion of the trial court's decision the Appellant has no argument. However, the trial court based the value of the Respondent's portion of the medical practice upon a dissolution agreement entered into by the members of Associates of Pathology. By adopting this method of valuation, Appellant argues that the court abused its discretion. The net effect of the trial court's adoption of Respondent's method of valuation, was to take Appellant's fifty percent interest in her husband's on-going medical practice from an estimated value of \$77,498.50, according to the Appellant's experts, to an estimated value of \$7,260.50 according the buy-out agreement formula.

The buy-out agreement of Associates of Pathology, adopted by the trial court in determining the value of Respondent's portion of the association, provides a formula by which an associate's portion of the professional corporation is determined for purposes of reaching a pay-off figure in the event that a partner leaves the association, or dies. The value of Dr. Johnson's portion of Associates of Pathology, according to this method, as adopted by the trial court was \$14,521.00, of which Mrs. Johnson was awarded 50 percent, or \$7,260.50.

Essentially, the buy-out agreement states that in the event

a member of Associates of Pathology leaves the corporation or dies, the value of the equipment, cash on hand, and the accounts receivable are totalled and the resulting figure constitutes the worth of the departing member's portion of the association, which he or his heirs is entitled to receive upon disassociation with the other doctors.

The Appellant argued at trial that the Respondent's portion of Associates of Pathology, should be valued as an ongoing concern, rather than as a close-out, because Dr. Johnson did not, nor is he planning, to leave the association. On the contrary, he is probably going to work within the association until he retires, barring some unforeseen event.

According to the method of valuation used by Appellant's experts, the Respondent's portion of the association, valued as a going concern, was approximately \$154,997.00. At trial, Respondent offered no evidence to refute the Appellant's valuation of Dr. Johnson's portion of Associates of Pathology as an on-going enterprise, but argued only that the value of the doctor's portion of the corporation should be computed according to the corporation's buy-out agreement.

To summarize Appellant's argument, the Respondent's portion is worth far more than the value of his medical equipment, accounts receivable, and the cash on hand at a fixed time. The method employed by the trial court in assessing the value of Dr. Johnson's interest in Associates of Pathology, fails to consider good-will, and the fact that the enterprise is an on-going

concern that will continue to produce income until Dr. Johnson either retires or dies. At age 44, Dr. Johnson has 21 years until he reaches age 65, and 18 years until he reaches age 62, the age at which the average pathologist in the United States retires. The trial court has clearly abused its discretion by failing to consider Dr. Johnson's interest in Associates of Pathology as an on-going concern.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY BASING ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY UPON A PROJECTED FUTURE INCOME WHICH WAS SUBSTANTIALLY BELOW DR. JOHNSON'S INCOME IN EACH OF THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS.

In the trial court's Memorandum Decision, at No. 5, the court found that Dr. Johnson's annual income was approximately \$130,000.00 to \$155,000.00. At trial, the Appellant offered evidence that Respondent's pension plan should also be counted as income, because even though money put into the pension plan will not be included as income for tax purposes, the money is discretionary income and should be included as part of the doctor's annual income. (Tr. at pp. 206-207). Doctor Johnson put \$25,000.00 to \$30,000.00 into a pension plan every year. From the trial court's findings of fact, it appears as if the court did not include that amount as part of Dr. Johnson's annual income.

Dr. Johnson had annual incomes for the past five years as indicated in Dr. Johnson's answers to interrogatories. The following figures represent Dr. Johnson's income for the past

five years:

1982

| | |
|--|---------------|
| Wages..... | \$54,000.00 |
| Dividends, interest, and bonds..... | \$11,606.00 |
| Bonus..... | \$51,500.00 |
| Contribution to profit sharing and pension plan... | \$25,000.00 * |
| <hr/> | |
| Total 1982 income..... | \$142,106.00 |

1983

| | |
|--|---------------|
| Wages..... | \$54,000.00 |
| Dividends, interest, and bonds..... | \$13,257.00 |
| Bonus..... | \$66,560.00 |
| Contribution to profit sharing and pension plan... | \$30,000.00 * |
| <hr/> | |
| Total 1983 income..... | \$163,817.00 |

1984

| | |
|--|---------------|
| Wages..... | \$60,000.00 |
| Dividends, interest, and bonds..... | \$15,967.00 |
| Bonus..... | \$93,500.00 |
| Contribution to profit sharing and pension plan... | \$30,000.00 * |
| <hr/> | |
| Total 1984 income..... | \$199,467.00 |

1985

| | |
|--|---------------|
| Wages..... | \$60,000.00 |
| Dividends, interest, and bonds..... | \$17,152.00 |
| Bonus..... | \$72,980.00 |
| Contribution to profit sharing and pension plan... | \$30,000.00 * |
| <hr/> | |
| Total 1985 income..... | \$180,132.00 |

1986

| | |
|--|---------------|
| Wages..... | \$69,000.00 |
| Dividends, interest, and bonds..... | \$10,000.00 |
| Bonus..... | \$81,580.00 |
| Contribution to profit sharing and pension plan... | \$30,000.00 * |
| <hr/> | |
| Total 1982 income..... | \$190,580.00 |

* The amounts contributed to the profit sharing plan, and the pension plan were disputed. However, the figures were included in Appellant's total income figures.

Appellant contends that the trial court abused its discretion by undervaluing the income of Dr. Johnson for purposes of awarding alimony and child support.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ALIMONY IS INSUFFICIENT AND AN ABUSE OF ITS DISCRETION CONSIDERING THE FINANCIAL CONDITION AND NEEDS OF MRS. JOHNSON, THE ABILITY OF MRS. JOHNSON TO PRODUCE A SUFFICIENT INCOME FOR HERSELF, AND THE INCOME OF DR. JOHNSON.

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