1987

# Janet Sue Johnson v. Val Budge Johnson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

### POINT I

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EQUITABLE INTEREST IN RESPONDENT'S MEDICAL LICENSE.

- A. A medical license is not a property asset allocable under the provisions of Section 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), or under the Common Law.
- B. Plaintiff has been adequately compensated for efforts expended while Defendant was attending medical school by enjoying a high standard of living during more than fifteen years of post-training marriage, by receiving a property settlement of nearly one half million dollars, and by receiving substantial alimony and child support awards.
- C. Defendant would have obtained his degree without financial assistance from Plaintiff.
- D. Appellant's expert testimony as to the value of Respondent's medical degree was not credible and was thus properly disregarded by the Trial Court.

## POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT DISTURB THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AND DECREE ABSENT A CLEAR AND SUBSTANTIAL ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

- A. The Trial Court is permitted considerable discretion in distributing assets and liabilities. Its determination should not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion, a manifest injustice or a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in a substantial and prejudicial error.
- B. The Trial Court distributed the marital assets fairly and equitably based upon specific Findings of Fact and substantiated by the record.
- C. Appellant's evidence as to disputed property valuations was not credible and was thus properly disregarded by the Trial Court.

## POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DISREGARDING APPELLANT'S EXPERT TESTIMONY AS TO THE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S ON-GOING MEDICAL PRACTICE.

- A. Appellant's expert testimony was not credible and was based upon highly speculative and factually erroneous data.

- B. Appellant's expert witness contradicted his own assumptions regarding the purported excess earnings upon which his valuation of this asset was based.
- C. Appellant's valuation is inconsistent with the contractual rights and obligations of the shareholders of the corporation in which Respondent practices.
- D. Appellant attempts to impose upon Respondent an asset at a value which is totally inconsistent with the value which Respondent is bound by contract to obtain if he sold that interest.

#### POINT IV

THE AWARD OF ALIMONY WAS ADEQUATE TO ALLOW APPELLANT TO MAINTAIN THE STANDARD OF LIVING TO WHICH SHE HAD BECOME ACCUSTOMED DURING THE MARRIAGE, WAS BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND WAS WELL WITHIN THE DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT.

- A. The alimony and child support awarded to Appellant nearly meets the amount which she requested, and exceeds the amount which she could demonstrate as being necessary to maintain the pre-separation standard of living for herself and the children.
- B. In setting the alimony award, the Trial Court implicitly acknowledged the income potential

available to Appellant from the property award of nearly one-half million dollars.

- C. The Trial Court considered all of the factors considered to relevant determining alimony, with the possible exception that no future income was imputed to the Plaintiff/Appellant.
- D. Appellant's evidence as to Respondent's current and expected income, from which the alimony award was derived, was not credible.

#### POINT V

THE CHILD SUPPORT AWARDED BY THE TRIAL COURT IS ADEQUATE AND PROVIDES THE CHILDREN WITH A STANDARD OF LIVING COMPARABLE TO THAT ENJOYED DURING THE MARRIAGE.

- A. The most credible evidence as to Respondent's 1987 income was that it would range between \$122,000.00 and \$130,000.00, and there was a high probability that it would decrease during the coming years.
- B. The child support guidelines in the Second Judicial District are advisory and not controlling upon the Court but in this case were followed.
- C. In Setting the child support, the Trial Court correctly acknowledged Respondent's significant ongoing contributions toward "Big Ticket" items



for the children made during the marriage and planned for after the divorce.

#### POINT VI

THE ADDITIONAL \$45,200.00 SHARE OF RESPONDENT'S INCOME WHICH APPELLANT CLAIMS WAS ACCUMULATED WHILE SHE RECEIVED SUPPORT UNDER THE TRIAL COURT'S TEMPORARY ORDER DOES NOT EXIST.

- A. The amount which Appellant received as temporary support was exactly what she requested as necessary to maintain her standard of living, and substantially exceeded the pre-separation monthly expenditures for the entire family.
- B. While Appellant continued her lifestyle at or above her prior standard of living under the Temporary Order, Respondent was left with \$699.00 per month (after taxes) and was forced to live with his parents during the ten months of the case. When he did receive his bonus, all but \$8,000.00 was put into various accounts that were split at trial and used to pay joint debts of the marriage, including taxes.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN INTEREST IN RESPONDENT'S MEDICAL LICENSE.

Utah case law is clear concerning whether a supporting spouse is entitled to an interest in an advanced degree. As found by the Trial Court, Respondent "would have received a medical degree with or without the Plaintiff's limited contribution" (FF #12). The Court of Appeals in Peterson vs. Peterson, 737 P.2d 237 at 242 (Utah App. 1987) held that a medical degree is not property to be equitably divided between the spouses. The Court ruled that where the marriage has been long,

"(t)he contributions and sacrifices of the one spouse in enabling the other to attain a degree have been compensated by many years of a comfortable lifestyle which the degree permitted. Traditional alimony analysis works nicely to assure equity in such cases". Id. at 242 footnote 4.

The Court of Appeals reaffirmed the Peterson logic in Rayburn vs. Rayburn, 738 P.2d 238 at 240 (Utah 1987) in holding that "an advanced degree or professional license is not marital property subject to division upon divorce." The Trial Court's award of \$45,000.00 to Mrs. Rayburn as her share of Dr. Rayburn's medical degree was re-characterized as rehabilitative alimony.

The Utah Supreme Court in Gardner vs. Gardner, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. 35 at 38 (Utah 1988) affirmed the Utah Court of Appeals in holding that where "the marriage is of long duration, present

earnings and business assets provide a more accurate measure of the true worth of the wife's investment in her husband's degree." The spouse who sacrificed while the other spouse earned the degree "realized greater benefits from the medical degree in the form of a greater property settlement and higher alimony." Where the marriage has been long and assets are sufficient, the degree and medical practice need not be valued at all. Id. In the Gardner case, the Court considered \$250,000.00 to be a substantial property award.

In the case at bar, Mrs. Johnson enjoyed the fruits of the medical degree while she was supported for more than fifteen years from Dr. Johnson's residency until the parties separated in January of 1986 (TT; 18, 69). She received a property award of \$455,927.00, \$315,927.00 of which was capable of producing current income (CL #15 and Appellant's Brief 27. Note: Appellant is in error; the \$59,602.00 cash award was not reduced to \$42,602.00). Thus Mrs. Johnson received approximately twice the property award which the Gardner Court found adequate to bar an excursion into the realm of valuing the doctor's medical license. Gardner, page 38.

If the Court were to consider a reversal of the common law set forth above, then for the reasons set forth in Respondent's Statement of Facts, paragraphs 1 through 8, the evidence which Appellant presented was based upon such poorly founded assumptions and speculation that the Trial Court was correct in dismissing it with a summary that "Plaintiff's expert witnesses

lack credibility regarding the value placed on Defendant's interest and stock with the Associates of Pathology and regarding the value of his medical degree" (CL #4).

## POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT DISTURB THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AND DECREE ABSENT A CLEAR AND SUBSTANTIAL ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The Trial Court is permitted considerable discretion in distributing assets and liabilities and its determination should not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion, a manifest injustice or a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in a substantial and prejudicial error. See Pusey vs. Pusey, 728 P.2d 117 at 119 (Utah 1986), Turner vs. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 at 8 (Utah 1982), Penrose vs. Penrose, 656 P.2d 1017 at 1019 (Utah 1982), Fletcher vs. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 at 1222 (Utah 1980), and Alexander vs. Alexander, 56 Utah Adv. Rep. 31 at 32 (Utah 1987). The policy of the Utah Supreme Court is to affirm the Trial Court's decision whenever it can do so, even if the Court has to use different reasoning than that used by the Trial Court. Jespersion vs. Jespersen, 610 P.2d 326, 328 (Utah 1980).

The party appealing a Trial Court's division of marital property has the burden of proving that the Trial Court's findings are contrary to a clear preponderance of the evidence. Berger vs. Berger, 713 P.2d 695 at 697 (Utah 1985). See also

English vs. English, 565 P.2d 409 at 410 (Utah 1977) and Searle vs. Searle, 522 P.2d 697 at 700 (Utah 1974).

Appellant's evidence as to disputed property valuations was not credible and was thus properly disregarded by the Trial Court. Her expert based his testimony on highly speculative projections, grounded upon unrealistic assumptions, and totally disregarded real life factors influencing the actual value of future income projections. Respondent's expert testified that as an accountant he could not disregard the actual market transaction regarding the purchase of an interest in the same business which had taken place when Dr. Wahlstrom recently purchased his shares for approximately \$14,000.00, as provided by the Restrictive Stock Agreement (TT; 142). Appellant's witness totally disregarded this transaction, and Dr. Hammond's testimony regarding the ongoing effectiveness of the Restrictive Stock Agreement (TT; 118). Although he conceded that the value of a company is what a willing buyer will pay to a willing seller, Mr. Merrill dismisses the transaction by saying that no actual sale takes place in a divorce (TT; 104). In calculating yields on investments, and present values of the flow of income, he makes assumptions as to future interest and inflation rates based on a period of inordinately high inflation throughout the country, and starts his projections with an income figure which is totally inconsistent with all evidence as to both the current year and future years' expected incomes (TT; 83). Illustrative are his use of a projected income growth rate for Associates of

Pathology of 9.58 percent per year (TT; 85) in spite of the fact that he admitted on cross-examination that the actual growth rate for the company, including recent distortions, had been only 6.8 percent per year, and that physicians' earnings in general were decreasing (TT; 102). His capitalization of earnings dependent on services of a single individual at five times his (erroneously) projected income is totally inconsistent with reasonable business valuations, particularly in light of his concessions that there should be a discount for "lack of marketability" and the fact that the position is a minority rather than control position in a corporation (TT; 87, 89). For these factors he discounts a total of 30 percent, in spite of the fact that Dr. Wahlstrom, in an actual arms-length transaction, had recently discounted his factor by 100 percent by purchasing his interest for a figure that included no "excess earnings" (TT; 142).

"The weight and credibility of the witness, including expert testimony, and evaluations of property are matters to be determined by the trier of fact." Yelderman vs. Yelderman, 669 P.2d 406 at 408 (Utah 1983) citing Weber Basin Water Conservancy District vs. Skeen, 8 Utah 2d 79, 328 P.2d 730 (1958). See also Turner vs. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 at 8 (Utah 1982).

The transcript in this case is replete with inconsistencies which undermine the credibility of Appellant's expert witnesses. Clearly the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in

disregarding that evidence and basing its decision on the evidence presented by Respondent and his witnesses.

Appellant has not met the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law, a manifest injustice or substantial and prejudicial error. Any property award that gives each party one-half of the assets is equitable upon its face absent a showing otherwise (Fletcher vs. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 at 1222 (Utah 1980)). While there is no fixed formula and the trial court has considerable discretion in dividing marital property, awards of much smaller percentages have been upheld by the Utah Supreme Court. See Gramme vs. Gramme, 587 P.2d 144 at 146 and 148 (Utah 1978), where Plaintiff's award of less than one-third of the marital property was upheld; Turner vs. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 at 8 (Utah 1982), where the Court upheld an award of between 27 percent and 42 percent depending on whose valuation was believed; Berger vs. Berger, 713 P.2d 695 at 699 (Utah 1985), where the Court upheld the wife's award of 60 percent of the marital assets where the wife earned more than the husband; and Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 at 1204 (Utah 1983), where the wife's award of 40 percent of the marital assets was upheld.

The Trial Court distributed the marital assets fairly and equitably based upon specific findings of fact which were substantiated by the record. Under such circumstances, the Appellate Court should not disturb the Trial Court's findings and decree.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DISREGARDING APPELLANT'S EXPERT TESTIMONY AS TO THE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S ON-GOING MEDICAL PRACTICE.

In awarding Mrs. Johnson one-half of the value of Respondent's medical practice with Associates of Pathology, the Trial Court utilized the valuation based upon credible evidence presented by Respondent's expert witness. As defined by the Articles of Incorporation and the Stock Redemption Agreement which were in effect when Dr. (and Mrs.) Johnson joined the corporation in 1972, this valuation provides that an associate's interest in the corporation is defined as his portion of the value of the equipment, the cash on hand, and the accounts receivable less accounts payable (Ex 9D, Para 4; TAB 3). The corporation has no intrinsic value other than the earnings of the respective associates, particularly since under the terms of the agreement a stockholder forfeits all rights in the corporation, except as provided by the definition of his "interest" at the "end of four month's continuous absence from the business for any cause" (Ex 9D, Para 1; TAB 3). The award was based upon credible evidence, and was well within the discretion of the Trial Court.

In fact, contrary to the Supreme Court's definition in Dogu v. Dogu, 652 P.2d 1308 at 1309 (Utah 1982), the Trial Court in following the terms of the Stock Redemption Agreement included more assets in the valuation than was necessary. In Dogu the Appellant/wife was awarded assets equal to the value of her



physician husband's professional corporation which the Court found included only the checking account and savings certificates valued at \$26,300.00. The Court excluded the accounts receivable noting that they were deferred income from which the husband would pay alimony. Id. The Trial Court's allocation of one-half of Dr. Johnson's accounts receivable actually awards Mrs. Johnson an interest in the same money twice since the accounts receivable will constitute a portion of the future income upon which Appellant's alimony and child support awards were based.

In Dogu, the Court also found that the only earning power of a professional corporation is the ability of the licensed professional to receive payment for his services. Dogu at 1309. This concept is made graphically clear in Article One of the Corporate Stock Redemption Agreement which provides that a shareholder terminates his employment with the corporation at any time that he has been absent from the business, for any cause, for a period of four months (Ex 9D, Page 2; TAB 3).

Similarly, in Olsen vs. Olsen, 704 P.2d 564 at 567-568 (Utah 1985) the Court found that the value of the respondent's consulting business was nothing more than his ability to work and was not a factor to be considered in the property distribution since the respondent's potential earning capacity had been factored into the alimony award, as it was here (FF #23).

In Peterson vs. Peterson, 737 P.2d 237 at 243 (Utah App. 1987), appellant was awarded his entire professional corporation

because his anticipated income from the medical practice was considered in the alimony award to Mrs. Peterson.

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